EFFECT OF ULTRASOUND ON TRANSDERMAL PERMEATION OF DICLOFENAC AND THE TEMPERATURE EFFECTS ON HUMAN SKIN

Thesis presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Medical Sciences (Pharmacology) at Stellenbosch University

Erina Basson **B.Sc. (Physiotherapy)**

Study leader: Prof. P van der Bijl (Head, Department of Pharmacology)

Co-study leader: Dr. AD van Eyk (Researcher and lecturer, Department of Pharmacology)

> Tygerberg August 2005

Declaration

I, the undersigned, hereby declare that the work contained in this thesis is my original work and that I have not previously submitted it, in its entirety or in part, at any university for a degree.

Erina Basson

Signature:

Date:



Summary

During the last two decades the effects of ultrasound on the transdermal diffusion of a wide variety of drugs have been extensively investigated. Because there is much uncertainty regarding the efficacy of and mechanisms involved in this mode of permeation enhancement, the objective of the study was to investigate the effect of ultrasound on the transdermal permeation of the nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug, diclofenac. For this purpose a dual-stage experimental design and a continuous flow-through diffusion system was used. Therapeutic levels of continuous ultrasound of 3 MHz at an intensity of 2 W/cm² for 10 min, were used. It was clear from the present study that ultrasound enhanced the permeability of human skin to diclofenac released from a commercially available gel. These results were in contrast with those obtained for ibuprofen in an *in vitro* study across human skin, but in agreement with those obtained in two in vivo studies of the latter nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug. Steady state flux values of diclofenac remained approximately 1.26 times higher than those of controls during the 24 h of the experiment. These observations concurred with those made in two previous in vivo studies. Furthermore, the in vitro flow-through diffusion model was shown to have predictive value as an in vivo method for sonophoresis.

Temperature-dependent flux rates for ${}^{3}\text{H}_{2}\text{O}$ across human skin were also studied. The mechanistic effects of ultrasound on the permeability characteristics of human skin have been reported on in a number of studies. Although various mechanisms have been proposed, there is no consensus regarding their relative importance. In addition the temperature-dependent flux changes of ${}^{3}\text{H}_{2}\text{O}$ across human skin were investigated using a continuous flow-through diffusion system. The same ultrasound parameters as in the permeability experiments were used. The results obtained showed that temperature increases of approximately 10 °C occurred following sonication. The flux changes of ${}^{3}\text{H}_{2}\text{O}$ across human skin between 37 °C and 42 °C were shown to be reversible. The results from the present study do not support the sonication-heating theory in which permeability changes in skin are primarily attributed to thermally-induced changes in stratum corneum lipids. It was therefore concluded that the enhancement of diclofenac permeation by sonication could not be adequately explained primarily on a thermal basis.

Opsomming

Die effek van ultraklank op die transdermale diffusie van 'n wye verskeidenheid middels is die afgelope twee dekades ekstensief nagevors. Daar bestaan heelwat onsekerheid rondom die effektiwiteit en meganismes van ultraklank om transdermale deurlaatbaarheid te verhoog. Daarom was dit die doel van hierdie studie om die effek van ultraklank op die transdermale deurlaatbaarheid van die nie-steroïed antiinflammatoriese middel, diklofenak, te ondersoek. 'n Twee-fase eksperimentsontwerp en 'n deurlopende- vloei perfusie apparaat is gebruik tydens hierdie studie. Terapeutiese vlakke van ononderbroke ultraklank, met 'n frekwensie van 3 MHz en intensiteit van 2 W/cm², is in hierdie studie gebruik. Die ultraklank is vir 10 minute toegedien. Die resultate het duidelik aangetoon dat ultraklank die deurlaatbaarheid van mensvel verhoog vir diklofenak vrygestel vanuit 'n kommersiële jel. Die resultate was in kontras met dié van 'n vorige in vitro studie met ibuprofen op Dit het egter ooreengestem met twee ander in vivo studies. mensvel. Die gemiddelde vaste vlak vloedwaardes vir diklofenak was ongeveer 1.26 keer hoër, as dié van die kontrole groep, gedurende die 24 h van die eksperiment. Hierdie bevindinge was in ooreenstemming met twee vorige in vivo studies. Verder is aangetoon dat die in vitro deurlopende-vloei apparaat 'n effektiewe metode is om sonoforese in die in vivo situasie na te boots.

Temperatuurafhanklike diffusie vloedwaardes vir ³H₂O oor mensvel is ook bestudeer. Verskeie studies het al gehandel oor die meganiese effekte van ultraklank met betrekking tot die deurlaatbaarheidseienskappe van vel vir middels. Alhoewel verskeie meganismes al voorgestel is, kon tot dusver geen konsensus bereik word oor hulle relatiewe belangrikheid en presiese rol nie. In hierdie studie is die temperatuur-toename in mensvel bestudeer. Die temperatuurafhanklike diffusie vloedwaardes van ³H₂O oor vel is ook bestudeer. Dieselfde ultraklank parameters as die van die deurlaatbaarheidseksperimente is gebruik. Die resultate het aangetoon dat die temperatuur van mensvel met ongeveer 10 °C gestyg het na toediening van ultraklank. Die verandering in diffusie vloedwaardes van ³H₂O oor mensvel, tussen 37 °C en 42 °C, was omkeerbaar. Die gevolgtrekking was dat die resultate van hierdie studie nie die ultrasonering-verhittingsteorie ondersteun nie. Die deurlaatbaarheidseienskappe van die vel kan dus nie hoofsaaklik toegeskryf word aan die temperatuurafhanklike veranderinge van die lipiede, van die stratum corneum, nie. Die verhoging in diklofenak deurlaatbaarheid a.g.v. sonikasie kan nie afdoende verklaar word primêr a.g.v. temperatuurverhoging van die vel nie.

Acknowledgements

- Prof. P van der Bijl Head, Department of Pharmacology, Stellenbosch University. I cannot express enough gratitude for his time, knowledge and scientific enthusiasm. His encouragement, advice and guidance throughout this project have been greatly appreciated.
- Dr. AD van Eyk Researcher and Lecturer, Stellenbosch University, for her continued kindness, support, advice and assistance during the research. Her time and energy are greatly acknowledged.
- Dr. HI Seifart Researcher, Stellenbosch University, for his assistance and HPLC analysis.
- Prof. JM van Zyl Associate Professor, Researcher and Lecturer, Stellenbosch University, for his assistance and guidance.
- Dr. PV van Deventer Plastic Surgeon, Louis Leipoldt Hospital Bellville, for donating the skin specimens.
- Department of Physiotherapy, Stellenbosch University, for allowing me to use their ultrasound equipment.
- The South African Medical Research Council is gratefully acknowledged for awarding me a postgraduate research training scholarship for allied health professionals in 2004 and 2005.
- The Harry and Doris Crossley Foundation is gratefully acknowledged for their financial assistance.
- My parents and Hennie Pretorius, for their encouragement and support during my undergraduate and postgraduate studies.



Contents

Page no.

a. Declaration	i
b. Summary	ii
c. Opsomming	iii
d. Acknowledgements	iv
1. Introduction	3
1.1 Topical administration of nonsteroidal anti-inflamma	tory drugs
(NSAIDs)	3
1.2 Skin	5
1.2.1 Epidermis	7
1.2.2 Dermis	
1.2.3 Hypodermis	9
1.3 Transmembrane diffusion processes	9
1.4 Methods to breach the skin barrier	
1.4.1 Ultrasound	
1.4.2 Phonophoresis	
1.4.2.1 Mechanisms of Phonophoresis	15
1.4.2.1.1 Thermal effects	
1.4.2.1.2 Non-thermal effects	17
1.4.2.1.2.1 Cavitation	17
1.4.2.1.2.2 Radiation pressure force	19
1.4.2.1.2.3 Acoustic Microstreaming	
1.4.2.2 Dependence of phonophoretic skin perm	neabilisation on
ultrasound parameters	
1.4.2.2.1 Frequency	
1.4.2.2.1.1 High frequency phonophoresis (1-3 MHz)	
1.4.2.2.1.2 Low frequency phonophoresis (20-100 kHz).	21
1.4.2.2.2 Mode, Intensity, Time	21
1.5 Ultrasound before or after the application of the drug	J 22
1.6 Coupling agent	
1.7 Diclofenac	24
1.8 In vitro permeability studies for drug testing	
1.9 Aim	

Contents

Page no.

2.	Materials and Methods	31
2.1	Skin	31
2.2	Diclofenac	31
2.3	Sonication	31
2.4	Permeability experiments	33
2.4.	1 HPLC determination of diclofenac	33
2.5	Temperature experiments	34
2.6	Calculation of flux values	36
2.7	Steady state kinetics	37
2.8	Statistical Analysis	37
3.	Results	38
3. 3.1	Results Permeability experiments	38 38
3. 3.1 3.2	Results Permeability experiments Temperature experiments	38 38 42
3. 3.1 3.2	Results Permeability experiments Temperature experiments	38 38 42
 3.1 3.2 4. 	Results Permeability experiments Temperature experiments Discussion	38 38 42 45
 3.1 3.2 4. 4.1 	Results Permeability experiments Temperature experiments Discussion Permeability experiments	38 38 42 45 45
 3.1 3.2 4. 4.1 4.2 	Results Permeability experiments Temperature experiments Discussion Permeability experiments Temperature experiments	 38 38 42 45 45 47
 3.1 3.2 4. 4.1 4.2 	Results Permeability experiments Temperature experiments Discussion Permeability experiments Temperature experiments	 38 38 42 45 45 47
 3.1 3.2 4. 4.1 4.2 5. 	Results Permeability experiments Temperature experiments Discussion Permeability experiments Permeability experiments Temperature experiments Conclusions	 38 38 42 45 45 47 49
 3.1 3.2 4. 4.1 4.2 5. 	Results Permeability experiments Temperature experiments Discussion Permeability experiments Temperature experiments Temperature experiments	 38 38 42 45 45 47 49

1. Introduction

1.1 Topical administration of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs)

Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are among the most frequently prescribed drugs in the world, but also the cause of one quarter of all adverse drug reaction reports.¹ As many as 8 % of the global adult population are taking prescribed forms of these agents at any given time.² NSAIDs are frequently prescribed for rheumatic musculoskeletal complaints and are often taken, or applied topically, without prescription for minor aches and pains. These drugs relieve pain, reduce swelling and inflammation and increase mobility of muscles or joints. NSAIDs are also used for a variety of other conditions: postoperative pain, herpetic neuralgia, periodontitis, aphthous ulcers, actinic keratoses and cancer pain. Patients suffering from rheumatic disease, which often include the elderly, are at increased risk for serious gastrointestinal (GI) complications such as peptic ulcer disease and GI haemorrhage. The prevalence rate of rheumatoid arthritis in the adult population is 1 %.³ The high incidence of serious gastrointestinal adverse events associated with the use of systemic NSAIDs, has prompted the development of growing numbers of topical nonsteroidal ant-inflammatory drugs. It is estimated that these drugs are responsible for approximately 25 % of all adverse drug reaction reports.¹ In this respect, NSAID-related gastrointestinal toxicity is the most frequently observed adverse reaction, and it is a significant cause of morbidity and mortality.⁴ The minimisation of plasma concentrations of active drug associated with topical NSAIDs may result in fewer systemic adverse effects.

Topically administered NSAIDs penetrate slower and in smaller quantities into systemic circulation compared with the equivalent oral administration. Bioavailability and maximal plasma concentration after topical application are generally less than 5 and 15 % of oral administration respectively, but product formulation may have a dramatic impact on absorption as well as penetration depth. Topical administration leads to relatively high concentrations in the dermis, compared to oral administration. The concentrations in the muscle tissue underneath the skin area exposed to the drug vary, but are at least equivalent to concentrations reached when taken orally.¹ NSAIDs also reach the synovial fluid, but there is still dispute whether in this case the drug reaches the joint predominantly via the transcutaneous or systemic route. A number of studies have shown the efficacy of topical NSAIDs over placebo as well as

the similarity in efficacy with some oral NSAIDs. Minimal literature is available for athropaties.⁵ Most NSAIDs are weak organic acids and tend to accumulate in inflamed tissues.⁵ Wide ranges of tissue penetration depths, as well as inconsistency in patient response have been reported after topical administration. Individual variability in subcutaneous vasculature and individual skin differences such as hydration status of the skin may account for these findings. This significant intra-individual variability was found in both *in vivo* and *ex vivo* studies.

Percutaneous administration of drugs offers many advantages compared to traditional drug delivery methods, e.g. oral delivery and injections. Firstly, compared to oral delivery, it avoids gastrointestinal drug metabolism (since it circumvents the hepatic first-pass effect), reduces elimination by the liver, provides less chance of an over- or underdose, allows easy termination (e.g. removing the drug from the skin) and permits both local and systemic treatment of conditions. Secondly the pain, fear and the possibility of infections associated with injections, often results in low patient compliance. Transdermal drug transport seems to be an answer to all these problems. The research on methods to increase absorption of drugs transcutaneously constitutes a huge area of pharmaceutical research.

Potential adverse reactions of topical drugs can be divided into cutaneous reactions and systemic reactions. Compared to oral delivery of NSAIDs, topical administration of these drugs offers the advantage of local, enhanced drug delivery to the affected tissue while maintaining low serum concentrations and therefore reduces the incidence of unwanted systemic side-effects.¹ High concentrations in the alimentary tract may lead to nausea, vomiting, dyspepsia and diarrhoea. Adverse effects due to topical NSAID application are primarily cutaneous in nature and consist of a rash and pruritus at the site of application, but fortunately these cutaneous adverse reactions tend to be self-limiting.

Although topical drugs are usually applied at a convenient site, the target for the drug action may be local (e.g. cortisone creams, analgesics) or systemic (e.g. scopolamine to prevent motion sickness). Regardless of the target, all transcutaneous drugs that penetrate the skin and enter the vascular system will have some systemic effects.

For a drug to be a successful topical agent, it has to have efficacy at the target site and also have the ability to reach that site. This may involve delivery via the systemic circulation and direct penetration. The topical agent consists of a vehicle or base, which often contains an active ingredient. Possible vehicles include: lotions, creams, gels, patches, ointments and pastes. The clinical effect is achieved through direct transport to the tissue or by systemic absorption and redistribution.⁵

1.2 Skin

The skin is an extensive organ covering the exterior of the body and varies in thickness, colour and the presence of hairs, glands and nails. It regulates heat and water loss from the body and also protects the body from the penetration of harmful chemicals or microorganisms, including agents applied to the skin. The human skin also plays a role in the absorption and blockage of radiation, temperature regulation, sensory perception and immunological surveillance. It therefore helps us to withstand a considerable range of environmental challenges. It has a surface area of approximately 2 m² and receives about a third of the body's blood circulation.⁶ Since it is the biggest organ (that of an average adult male weighs 4.5 to 5 kg) and also easily accessible, it offers great opportunities for the administration of therapeutic compounds.⁷

Skin (*in vivo*) is metabolically active and in a state of continual regeneration. It has immunological and histological responses to different chemicals. Most transdermal drug delivery studies tend to use *in vitro* skin, due to ethical and experimental difficulties. Therefore it should be kept in mind that skin from *in vitro* studies serves only as a model and data obtained cannot always be translated directly to the *in vivo*-situation, since the abovementioned active processes are lost in these studies.

The skin is composed of three layers: an outer layer of epithelial cells called the epidermis, middle layer of connective tissue called the dermis, and a variable inner layer called the hypodermis (Figs. 1 and 2).^{8,9}



Fig. 1.

- a. The different layers of the skin
- b. Epidermis
- c. Basement membrane and the connection between epidermis and dermis⁸



Fig. 2. Histology of human skin⁹

1.2.1 Epidermis

The epidermis, the outermost part of the skin, is a continually renewing, stratified, squamous epithelium. It varies in thickness from around 0.06 mm on the eyelids to around 0.8 mm on the load-bearing areas of the skin. The epidermis was first described by Marcello Malpighi (1628-1694), who believed that it was a gelatinous membrane, and he divided it into an inner layer of viable cells (now known as the stratum malphigii) and an outer one of anucleated keratinized cells (stratum corneum).

The epidermis consists of four histologically distinct layers, which represent the stages of maturation of keratin by keratinocytes. The stratum basale or germinativum, stratum spinosum, stratum granulosum and the outermost layer the stratum corneum (Fig. 2). Some literature describe a fifth layer, the stratum lucidum, but this layer is usually considered to be the lower layer of the stratum corneum.⁷

It does not contain any blood vessels and therefore molecules have to permeate to the dermis to be cleared or taken up by the systemic circulation. The main cell of the epidermis is the keratinocyte, which produces the protein keratin. Keratins are high-molecular-weight polypeptide chains and are the major constituent of the stratum corneum. The stratum corneum comprises keratin (65 %), along with soluble protein (10 %), amino acid (10 %), lipid (10 %) and cell membrane (5 %). The keratinocytes are tied to each other by an extensive system of desmosomes (Fig. 1b). As these cells mature, they synthesize numerous keratin fibres and secrete a hydrophobic phospholipid matrix that acts as the skin's main waterproofing agent. By the time the older keratinocytes are pushed to the surface of the epidermis by newer cells, their cytoplasm is thick with keratin fibres. At this point the cells die, and their nuclei and organelles disappear. The mats of keratin fibres remain behind still linked to each other by the protein fibres of the desmosomes. Dispersed between the keratinocytes are the melanocytes, the cells that produce melanin, and the cells of Langerhans, which have a defensive function.⁷

The stratum corneum seems to be the main permeability barrier. It comprises densely packed disc-like keratinocytes which are anucleate keratinized cells, and separated by multi-cellular lipid bilayers which function as cement.¹⁰ These lipid bilayers consist of regions of ceramides, fatty acids, cholesterol and cholesterol esters and form regions of semi crystalline gel and liquid crystal domains. The

stratum corneum resembles a 'brick and mortar' structure, analogous to a wall, and this highly ordered construction makes the stratum corneum impermeable to many drugs. It forms the rate-controlling barrier for diffusion for almost all compounds.¹¹

Most of the molecules penetrate through skin via the intercellular micro route and many of the transdermal enhancement techniques are aimed at disrupting this layer's molecular architecture. This layer is also lipophilic and therefore unionised drugs penetrate the stratum corneum more readily, while the rest of the epidermis is more hydrophilic.¹² A drug that exhibits both hydrophilic and lipophilic characteristics, will therefore have optimal penetration.

The epidermis does not contain any blood vessels or lymph nodes, but does contain a large number of nerve endings. Between the epidermis and the underlying layer of connective tissue is an acellular basement membrane. The cells of the epidermis and fibres of the dermis are anchored to each other by protein fibres that run throughout the basement membrane (Fig. 1c).

1.2.2 Dermis

The dermis is the layer below the epidermis. It is typically 3-5 mm thick and composed of a network of connective tissue, which consists primarily of collagen fibres embedded in a mucopolysaccharide gel.¹³

The dermis, in contrast with the epidermis, does contain blood vessels. The blood vessel supply plays an essential role in the regulation of body temperature whilst also delivering oxygen and nutrients to the tissue and removing toxins and waste products. The blood flow is responsible for removing molecules that have permeated the outer skin layers. This ensures a concentration gradient, and therefore a driving force, between the applied formulation on the skin surface and the vasculature. It also contains lymphatic vessels, nerve endings, pilosebaceous units (hair follicles and sebaceous glands), and sweat glands (eccrine and apocrine). The lymphatic flow seems to play a bigger role with the clearance of larger molecules.⁷ Hair follicles are present over the entire body surface, except over the load-bearing areas and on the lips. The sebaceous glands are found together with the hair follicles and secrete sebum that plays a role in maintaining the skin's pH at approximately 5.⁷

This layer is often viewed as consisting of essentially gelled water and therefore provides a minimal barrier to the delivery of most polar drugs. The dermal barrier properties are more pronounced when delivering lipophilic compounds.⁷

1.2.3 Hypodermis

The hypodermis is the deepest layer of the skin. This subcutaneous fat layer forms the bridge between the overlying dermis and the underlying body organs. It serves as an insulator of the human body, protects it against physical shock and provides a reservoir of high-energy molecules. In most areas of the body it is a few millimetres thick, but in some areas, e.g. the eyelids, it is absent. The hypodermis contains blood vessels and nerves.⁷ Below the hypodermis is the subcutaneous tissue, which forms the internal boundary of the skin.

1.3 Transmembrane diffusion processes

Compounds are thought to transfer through the skin by a predictable system of passive diffusion, which is defined by Fick's Law and the rate of permeation. Diffusion for most low molecular weight substances seems to occur uniformly through the stratum corneum. Percutaneous absorption of a topically applied drug involves a sequence of individual transport processes. A drug molecule has three possible pathways through skin tissue: through hair follicles with associated sebaceous glands, via sweat ducts or across the continuous stratum corneum (inter- and transcellularly).¹⁴

The area available for diffusion purposes from the skin appendages, is almost negligibly small, approximately 1 %.¹¹ This pathway may be important for ions and large polar molecules. Once diffusion through the stratum corneum has taken place, the molecules permeate the dermis and are absorbed by the capillary plexus and transported into the circulating bloodstream.¹⁴ The molecule follows a tortuous route and has to cross, sequentially and repeatedly, a number of hydrophilic and lipophilic domains. The time necessary to reach C_{max} is approximately 10 times longer than that when the equivalent oral administration is given.¹

The transmembrane diffusion process is passive in nature, requiring a concentration differential as the driving force and each molecule requires kinetic energy to effect a net movement down this gradient. The lipid-water partitioning characteristics of the

permeant play an important role in its penetration. Drugs that are either extremely hydrophilic or extremely hydrophobic are poorly absorbed. Molecular size also plays a role in penetration of the skin and so does the pH of the vehicle.¹⁵ Other physiochemical properties of a drug include solubility/melting point and the state of ionisation. The governing factor for which pathway the permeant will follow when it diffuses through the tissue, is the partition coefficient. There is an inverse relationship between the permeant flux and its molecular weight. Therefore smaller molecules diffuse through the tissue at a faster rate than larger molecules. Topical medication is usually applied in an aqueous formulation and the permeant from the formulation over the time course of the application. Most drugs are weak acids or weak bases which dissociate to various degrees depending on the pH of the formulation used and the pH of the membrane through which it must diffuse.^{1,7}

For many years it was thought that percutaneous drugs all entered the dermal capillary network and reached the central blood compartment only to return to the local area above which they were applied. However, it now appears that there is a system of local delivery separate from systemic delivery via the central blood compartment.¹⁴

Permeability of the skin is also influenced by age, disease, the appearance of skin appendages (e.g. hair follicles, aprocrine sweat glands, erector pili muscles, sebaceous glands), the nature of its physiochemical condition (e.g. thickness, lipid structure, membrane capacity), as well as the viscosity and the extent of cross-linking of the collagen.¹⁶ Hydration of the stratum corneum also plays a vital role. The amount of water in the stratum corneum increases the permeability of this layer to hydrophilic drugs. It is possible for the stratum corneum to absorb three to five times its own weight in water, resulting in a two- to threefold enhancement in the permeability to water and other polar molecules.¹⁴

1.4 Methods to breach the skin barrier

Scientists have looked at different means to enhance the transport of drugs through the skin and especially trying to decrease the barrier properties of the stratum corneum - the main barrier of the skin. The barrier properties of the skin are primarily attributed to the intercellular lipid bilayers of the stratum corneum. The ability of a drug to penetrate the skin is closely related to its molecular weight and its affinity for the stratum corneum.^{10,17}

Transdermal delivery is often only considered after a novel compound has been selected, shown to be active, but then was proven to be problematic for oral administration. The drugs that are available for transdermal formulation consequently seldom have ideal physicochemical properties for transdermal administration. Redesigning of the chemical is often too expensive and time consuming, after the compound's toxicological, pharmacological and pre-formulation studies have already been conducted.⁷

Many of the topically applied agents, e.g. the non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), do not penetrate skin optimally.^{12,18,19} While product formulation may have a dramatic impact, not only on transcutaneous absorption rates, but also on depth of penetration into the underlying tissues, further optimisation may be desirable.¹ A number of approaches to enhance transport across skin and to expand the range of drugs delivered have been investigated.²⁰ Despite intensive research during the last three decades, there are still limited transdermal products available on the market for transdermal transport. Those available are mainly low-molecular weight lipophilic drugs (MW<500 Da). Expanding the range of topically available drugs, especially to include macromolecules, is primarily hindered by low skin permeability. Strategies for transdermal drug absorption are primarily targeted at enhancing the permeability of the stratum corneum, the main barrier of the skin. These strategies involve the selection of the correct drug or prodrug and chemical potential adjustment. Hydration of the stratum corneum and chemical methods can also be used. Chemical enhancers include surfactants, solvents, lecithin gels, liposomes and submicron emulsions. Surfactants may enhance partitioning by reducing the surface tension between the vehicle and the membrane surface, but also influence the barrier potential of the membrane.²¹

Physical methods, e.g., iontophoresis, electroporation, magnetophoresis, using a photomechanical wave and sonophoresis are other options.¹¹ These techniques are based on two principles: enhancing skin permeability and/or providing a driving force acting on the drug. Often combinations of methods are used because they are more effective than single techniques. Iontophoresis is the use of electricity to enhance transdermal transport and for this purpose a current between 0.5 and 20 mA is usually employed.²² Skin electroporation creates transient aqueous pores in the lipid

bilayers by application of short (micro- to millisecond) electrical pulses of approximately 100-1000 V/cm. These pores provide pathways for drug penetration.¹¹ Magnetophoresis is the ability of magnetic fields to move diamagnetic materials through skin. Another technique which is likely to stay experimental is the use of a photomechanical wave. A drug solution, placed on the skin and covered by a black polysterene target, is irradiated with a laser pulse.¹¹ The resultant photomechanical wave stresses the stratum corneum and enhances drug delivery. Ultrasound, a physical treatment modality, may also enhance cutaneous uptake.¹⁴ It is an especially helpful technique for physiotherapists, since ultrasound equipment are often present in physiotherapy practices.^{23,24} Other advantages of using ultrasound in drug delivery include its non-invasive nature, relative convenience and comfort, as well as the ability to focus and control the spatial, along with temporal delivery, of the drugs.

1.4.1 Ultrasound

The use of ultrasound as a therapeutic modality was introduced over 5 decades ago and has since then been developed into one of the most widely available and frequently used electrophysical techniques by physiotherapists.^{23,24} While the human ear can detect frequencies between 20 Hz and 20 kHz, ultrasonic waves have frequencies above 20 kHz. Ultrasonic waves are generated by applying a high frequency, alternating, electrical current, across a quartz or silicone dioxide crystal, or across certain polycrystalline materials such as lead-zirconate-tetanate (PZT) and barium titanate. Through a phenomenon known as the piezoelectric effect, the electrical current induces the crystal to undergo rhythmic deformation, producing ultrasonic vibrations. In the process of ultrasonic wave generation, electrical energy is converted into mechanical energy in the form of oscillations, which generate acoustic waves.^{7,25}

Indications for therapeutic ultrasound in physiotherapy include musculoskeletal conditions, disorders of the peripheral nerves, disorders of the skin and open wounds. Despite the frequent use of ultrasound in practice, there is minimal scientific evidence to support its clinical beneficial effects.²⁶ Regarding ultrasound dosage, two trends are evident and these relate to either acute or chronic musculoskeletal conditions. Although a rationale exists for the usage of these dosages, clinical evidence for their efficacy is currently sparse.²³ Previous attempts at reviewing a dose-response relationship, using the information available from randomized

controlled trials (RCTs) of ultrasound have failed. Gam and Johannsen (1995) were unable to demonstrate even basic dose-response relationships in ultrasound after reviewing the literature extensively.²⁷ They identified 293 papers, published between 1950 and 1992 that investigated the use of ultrasound to treat musculoskeletal conditions. A relationship between dosage and treatment outcome could not be made due to the inadequacy of the treatment details provided by the studies. In 2002 Robertson performed a similar survey of the world-wide English literature.²⁴ Robertson analyzed dosage related variables from an existing set of randomized controlled trials published between 1975 and 1999 on the use of ultrasound to treat pain and soft tissue lesions. The results revealed that too few details were provided in most studies to identify a relationship between dosage and treatment responses.²⁴

1.4.2 Phonophoresis

Phonophoresis (sonophoresis) is the use of ultrasound to enhance transdermal drug transport. This technique for improving drug delivery was first reported by Fellinger and Schmid, who demonstrated that polyarthritis of the hand could be successfully treated by driving hydrocortisone into inflamed areas with ultrasonic waves.²⁸ Since then the combination of ultrasound with steroids and analgesics has especially been used in a wide selection of musculoskeletal disorders (e.g. rheumatoid and osteoarthritis, tendonitis, as well as other joint, ligament, tendon and synovium pathologies). Furthermore, ultrasound has also been used to enhance the skin permeability to various other drugs, e.g. ketoprofen, lidocaine, benzydamine, acetylsalicylic acid, interferon, estradiol and insulin.²⁹ It has also recently been used in a process termed reverse phonophoresis, for monitoring "blood" glucose levels.³⁰

The three most common types of topical drugs used in phonophoresis are:

- 1) Anaesthetics (substances such as lidocaine that block pain receptors by creating numbness).
- 2) Counterirritants (substances such as menthol).
- 3) Anti-inflammatories such as nonsteroidal medications (e.g. salicylates) or steroidal medications (e.g. hydrocortisone, dexamethasone).

The long term effects of ultrasound on the skin are still unclear. Although ultrasonic skin heating does occur, these increases in temperature of a few degrees, have not been considered to make large contributions to the increased permeability observed when compared to the cavitational effects caused by sonication.^{30,32} However,

previous studies have shown double-digit temperature increases in tissues due to sonication.^{33,34} While there may be other contributing factors such as acoustic streaming and mixing effects, cavitational channel-opening in the lipid layers, i.e. the porous pathway theory, is thought to play a major role in permeation enhancement.³⁵ The creation of these channels, which allows a freer passage of both hydrophobic and hydrophilic drugs of varying molecular weights, effectively indicates "damage" to the barrier lipid layer of skin. From *in vivo* evidence, this "damage" of the human skin caused by cavitational channel formation appears to persist for at least 15 h following sonication. Hereafter, the barrier regains normal, pre-sonication permeability status by 24 h.³⁶ In another, more recent *in vivo* study, the increased permeability to diclofenac was shown to last at least 3 h following application of ultrasound.³⁷

Visual and microscopic examination of ultrasound-exposed skin, do not reveal any noticeable skin damage.³⁸⁻⁴⁰ Other researchers, though, have reported noticeable skin damage from phonophoresis experiments.^{33,41,42} Machet *et al.* did a histological examination of hairless mice skin after ultrasound was given at 1.5 W/cm², 1.1 MHz for 20 min, using a cooling coil.⁴² The temperature was maintained at 31 °C. Histological examination showed no difference between control and sonicated skin. Scanning electron microscopy revealed holes at the surface of the corneocytes from the sonicated skin. Transmission electron microscopy showed no cellular abnormalities and well-preserved intercellular spaces without signs of intercellular disruption.⁴² Cell lysis and membrane rupture may be considered a permanent change in permeability. However, there are reports in which membrane permeability was changed transiently, without cell disruption, and eventually the original permeability was restored. Furthermore, there appears to be an intensity threshold below which membrane permeability can be transiently perturbed. The skin eventually returns to its original permeability state without loss in cell viability or At higher intensities, cells are often permanently damaged, tissue damage. suggesting that holes in the tissue were formed that were too large to recover spontaneously.43

Many authors have reported on the effectiveness of phonophoresis *in vivo*.^{30,44-47} Ultrasound has been shown to enhance transdermal permeation of compounds by factors ranging from 2 to 20, in treatments lasting a few minutes, at sound frequencies between 20 kHz and 3.6 MHz and at intensities between 0.15 and 4 W/cm². For instance, a 5-20-fold increase in the delivery of inulin and mannitol in

rats, within 1-2 h following ultrasound irradiation (1 MHz and 1.5 W/cm² for 3-5 min) was reported.³⁰ These authors also observed a reduction of the lag time usually observed during transdermal delivery of drugs. However, other workers could not demonstrate any significant flux enhancements after applying phonophoresis.^{38,48,49} It therefore seems that phonophoresis is only effective under certain conditions. It was then concluded that the effect of ultrasonication depends on the nature of the drug, the formulation base, and the ultrasound parameters used.

Systematic reviews and research studies have repeatedly concluded that there exists insufficient evidence for the therapeutic value of ultrasound, as well as for the process of phonophoresis.^{33,43} No clear consensus exists on the effectiveness of phonophoresis, or on the nature of the phonophoretic mechanism; consequently the foundation of this treatment modality is highly subjective and non-quantitative.⁵⁰ The conflicting data found in the literature are primarily attributable to the fact that different research groups have employed different ultrasonic parameters, i.e. frequency, intensity, duration and mode, as well as different skin membranes and vehicles. Furthermore, conclusions drawn from published studies performed using phonophoresis as a tool to enhance drug delivery have been limited by a lack of standardisation. The latter includes deficient controls, incomplete accounts of the dosimetry and protocols employed, and the non-calibration of the ultrasound equipment. Due to these reasons and the multiplicity of drugs as well as end-point evaluation techniques used, it is difficult to discern any trends between ultrasonic frequency, intensity, molecular structure and degree of permeation enhancement. In spite of these mechanistic uncertainties, there is no doubt that ultrasound has the ability to markedly increase percutaneous absorption for a number of molecules, under certain conditions. Without established dose-response relationships, users of therapeutic phonophoresis can only estimate effective dosages for patients. Considerably more controlled in vitro and in vivo studies are therefore necessary to evaluate the currently used treatment dosages properly, to clarify the mechanisms and to optimise the process.

1.4.2.1 Mechanisms of Phonophoresis

The propagation of an ultrasonic wave within the skin produces both thermal and non-thermal effects.²⁰ The latter effects are important in determining the therapeutic and phonophoretic efficacy, as well as potential deleterious effects of ultrasound.

1.4.2.1.1 Thermal effects

Heating

Ultrasound does not pass through tissues with 100 % efficiency. During its propagation, the ultrasound wave is partially scattered and absorbed by the tissue medium, resulting in attenuation of the emitted wave. The lost energy is converted into heat, while the remainder of the wave penetrates into and propagates through the medium. The quantity of heat absorbed depends on the absorption characteristics of the tissue being irradiated and the amount of ultrasonic energy passing through it.²⁰ Tissues with high protein content absorb energy more readily than those with a higher fat content. Once delivered, the heat is then dissipated by both thermal diffusion and local blood flow. Ultrasound is also known to cause deep penetrating hyperthermia, which may increase solubility of drugs, vasodilatation and blood flow, factors which may all facilitate drug permeation. Furthermore, phase transitions of the intercellular lipids of the stratum corneum may also occur close to physiological temperatures and may lead to increased diffusion of the drug.⁵¹ In this respect it has been shown that percutaneous absorption of the hormone, estradiol, doubled when the temperature was increased by 10 °C.52

It has been shown that the crystalline/gel barrier lipid domains undergo transitions (pre-melting) towards more disordered structures with increasing temperature.⁵³ Between 41 and 42 °C, a clearly characterized phase transition of the intercellular lipid domains to an even more fluid and disordered state occurs.⁵⁴ Thermally-induced rearrangements of these systems change diffusion characteristics of permeants, because the compositions and physical structures of the lipid domains affect the barrier functions of skin. This has been demonstrated for both skin and mucosa.^{17,55} Thermal energy also increases the molecular diffusion of the permeant molecules.^{14,56}

Several authors have measured the *in vitro* increases in temperature at the skin surface following exposure to ultrasound waves. This elevation amounted to only a few degrees Celsius and could not explain the increase in percutaneous absorption observed.^{52,57} If heating was the main cause of increased transdermal drug delivery, then clearly phonophoresis would be of no great therapeutic interest, since the same penetration enhancement effect could be obtained by applying any appropriate heat source. However, other studies have reported greater rises in skin surface temperature. Miyazaka *et al.* demonstrated a rise of 6 °C with 1 MHz at a low intensity of 0.25 W/cm² and 12 °C at a higher intensity of 0.75 W/cm^{2.58} A rise in

temperature may therefore be one of the major factors explaining the increase in percutaneous absorption in the frequency range 1-3 MHz in the continuous mode *(vide infra).* Machet *et al.* therefore decided to control the heating effect of ultrasound *in vitro* with a cooling coil.⁴² These researchers demonstrated that ultrasound was ineffective for the enhancement of percutaneous diffusion of drugs, when applied for 10-20 minutes. This concept was reinforced by some controlled *in vivo* studies, which failed to demonstrate any valuable effect of commonly used therapeutic ultrasound techniques.^{38,49} Another study showed, that when heating was removed as an artefact of phonophoresis, the skin absorption of five different anaesthetic molecules was not affected by ultrasound.⁵⁹ Some workers have suggested 45 °C as a cut-off point for skin damage, with temperatures in excess of this value being potentially destructive to skin.⁶⁰

The abovementioned studies do not imply that phonophoresis is ineffective, but indicate that the optimal ultrasound parameters have not yet been established. Ultrasound-enhanced delivery has also been reported in experiments where negligible ultrasonic heating developed.^{61,62} This points to the existence of phonophoretic mechanisms other than heating. Merino *et al.* supported the concept that another mechanism (other than heating) exists which is responsible for the lowered skin barrier function after ultrasonification.⁶³ These researchers found that only about one-fourth of the skin permeability was attributable to the increased temperature induced by ultrasound. They therefore concluded that, at least for the permeant model they used, there existed another mechanism, most probably cavitation, responsible for the lowered skin barrier function they observed.⁶³

1.4.2.1.2 Non-thermal effects

1.4.2.1.2.1 Cavitation

Cavitation occurs in a liquid medium owing to nucleation of small gaseous cavities during the negative pressure cycles of ultrasound, followed by the expansion of these bubbles throughout subsequent cycles. It thus involves the generation and oscillation of gaseous bubbles and their subsequent collapse. This cavitation leads to the disordering of lipid bilayers and formation of aqueous channels in the skin structures through which drugs can permeate. Cavitation may also generate violent microstreams, which may increase the bioavailability of drugs.⁶⁴ The occurrence of cavitation in biological tissue has been attributed to the existence of large numbers of gaseous nuclei. The latter are gas pockets trapped either intra- or intercellularly. It has been shown that cavitation within skin layers plays a dominant role in enhancing

transdermal transport during ultrasound exposure.⁵² Cavitation inside the stratum corneum can potentially occur in the keratinocytes, or in the lipid regions, or both. Many drugs permeate the epithelial layer of the stratum corneum via the intercellular route (Fig. 3A). When ultrasound is applied, disordering of the lipid layers occurs and the transcellular route may become more prominent (Fig. 3B).



Fig. 3 A. Permeation of drugs through the epithelial layer of the stratum corneum via the intercellular route.



Fig. 3 B. Permeation of drugs through the epithelial layer of the stratum corneum via the transcellular route following disordering of the lipid layers by ultrasound (gas bubbles due to cavitation are shown).

Two types of cavitation occur in liquid media: stable and unstable. Stable cavitation corresponds to a bubble that slowly oscillates many times around its equilibrium radius, while unstable cavitation involves rapid growth and collapse of a bubble. The latter exists for less than one cycle during which it expands to at least double, and often to several times, its original size. Eventually it implodes, creating a shock wave, often followed by the creation of many smaller bubbles. In water, the occurrence of cavitation is facilitated by the presence of dissolved gas.^{14,33}

A cavitation threshold exists, which is defined as the minimum ultrasound intensity required for the onset of cavitation, and it increases rapidly with ultrasound frequency. The most commonly used ultrasonic conditions for phonophoresis (frequency 1-3 MHz, intensity 0-2 W/cm²) are termed therapeutic ultrasound conditions. However, as the number and size of cavitation nuclei are inversely correlated with the frequency of the applied ultrasound pulse, it was found that any frequency lower than that corresponding to therapeutic ultrasound was actually more effective in enhancing skin permeability.^{10,65} At higher ultrasound frequencies it becomes increasingly difficult to induce cavitation owing to the short time-lapse between positive and negative acoustic pressures, because insufficient time is available for the dissolved gas within the medium to diffuse into the cavitation nuclei.²⁹

Cavitation, as a mechanism for phonophoresis, has been studied widely and is supported by a series of experiments.³³ These include:

- 1) The importance of keeping dissolved gas in the medium to form nuclei of cavitation.⁵²
- 2) The possibility of permeating cell membranes *in vitro* is enhanced in the presence of artificial cavitation nuclei.⁴²
- Demonstration of possible pores created by ultrasound on the skin surface and within the stratum corneum.⁶⁶
- Demonstration of multiple pits induced by bubble implosion on aluminium foil exposed to ultrasound and its correlation with intensity and skin conductivity.⁶⁵

1.4.2.1.2.2 Radiation pressure force

Any medium or object that absorbs a beam of energy is subjected to a force, the radiation pressure force, which tends to push that material along the direction of wave propagation. Naturally this force will be greatest in a strongly absorbing medium. One hypothesis is that an induced radiation pressure, acting on the

penetrant molecules, can push the drug through the skin.⁶⁷ Another proposal is that ultrasound exerts a radiation pressure force on the stratum corneum, thus perturbing its barrier properties. Simonin used a 1 MHz, 1 W/cm² ultrasonic beam, and computed from theory that the stratum corneum would be subjected to a maximum pressure equivalent to that produced by 5 mg of weight distributed over a 1 cm² area of its surface.⁶⁸ At therapeutic intensities, the primary radiation pressures are therefore small and are unlikely to damage well-anchored soft tissues.

1.4.2.1.2.3 Acoustic Microstreaming

When a structure within an ultrasonic field is subjected to an unequal distribution of radiation pressure forces across its length, it is also subjected to a force known as the acoustic torque. This torque produces microscopic currents in a liquid or semi liquid medium, termed acoustic microstreaming. The latter phenomenon may also occur due to the oscillations of cavitation bubbles, which generate a liquid motion.²⁰ It has been postulated that shear forces generated by acoustic microstreaming can perturb the skin barrier and thus play a role in enhancing skin diffusion during phonophoresis.⁶⁹

1.4.2.2 Dependence of phonophoretic skin permeabilisation on ultrasound parameters

1.4.2.2.1 Frequency

The most commonly used conditions for phonophoresis (frequency 1-3 MHz, intensity 0-2 W/cm²) are termed therapeutic ultrasound conditions.⁷ These parameters are often used in the physiotherapy practice. Attenuation of an acoustic wave is inversely proportional to its frequency, and thus the higher this parameter, the more energy is dissipated in the surface tissues, leaving less energy available for absorption in deeper tissues.³³

1.4.2.2.1.1 High frequency phonophoresis (1-3 MHz)

High frequencies (1-3 MHz) were first investigated as physical enhancers for transdermal delivery of drugs.^{14,30} Since the outer layer of the epidermis, the stratum corneum, is the main barrier to percutaneous penetration of drugs, it initially seemed logical to concentrate the ultrasonic energy in this skin layer using high frequencies. The first studies involved hydrocortisone²⁸ and anaesthetics⁷⁰ and the technique became very popular in the United States. An investigation performed at 52 military hospitals showed that 45 hospitals used phonophoresis.¹⁴ Ultrasound was used at

continuous or pulsed frequencies, ranging from 0.7 to 1.1 MHz, with intensities from 1 to 2 W/cm².²⁹ The principal criterion for efficacy of the phonophoretic process was the subjective reduction of pain. These high frequencies are still being used in current treatments, even though previous attempts to use high frequency ultrasound to enhance transdermal drug delivery have produced inconsistent results that were found to vary significantly from drug to drug.⁷¹

1.4.2.2.1.2 Low frequency phonophoresis (20-100 kHz)

Subsequent to the research of Mitragotri and collegues in 1995, it has been clear that frequency is a major determinant in phonophoresis.^{33,34} The latter researchers demonstrated that in contrast with previous assumptions, the use of low frequency ultrasound (20-150 kHz) was more effective than higher frequencies of ultrasound in enhancing transdermal transport.^{29,30,40,57,61,72,73} Skin permeability increased as the frequency of ultrasound decreased, as well as with increased intensity and length of time of ultrasound application.⁷⁴ Mitragotri's research showed that cavitation played the dominant role in increasing skin permeability and that the number and size of cavitation nuclei showed an inverse correlation with the frequency applied.^{10,65}

Low frequency sonophoresis, using a 20 kHz probe, showed increased transdermal diffusion of various molecules *in vitro*. Diffusion rates of low molecular weight molecules were increased 2-5000-fold across isolated epidermis *in vitro*.⁷⁵ Using human skin, a significant but moderate increase was also demonstrated for caffeine and fentanyl, the enhancement ratio being 4 and 34 during sonication, respectively.⁷⁵ Tachibana was the first to demonstrate transdermal diffusion of insulin *in vivo*.³⁰ Phonophoresis was performed on hairless mice using 48 kHz ultrasound for 5 minutes, the mice experiencing a marked decrease (80 %) in glycaemia. In hairless mice and in humans, reverse skin permeability of glucose measured after exposure to ultrasound at 20 kHz, was 100-fold enhanced compared with controls.^{30,76} Significant results for large molecules such as insulin⁵⁷ and low molecular weight heparin⁷³ were also found.

1.4.2.2.2 Mode, Intensity, Time

Ultrasound waves can be emitted continuously (continuous mode) or in a sequential mode (discontinuous or pulsed mode). The rise in temperature is faster and more intense with the continuous mode. Intensity is directly dependent on the acoustic energy and the velocity of the sound waves in the medium.³³

A threshold energy dose for phonophoresis exists.⁷⁴ Ultrasound has a large number of components that combine with each other to constitute the final dosage. *In vitro* studies with low-frequency ultrasound were performed to measure the dependence of percutaneous drug enhancement on ultrasound parameters, including mode, intensity and exposure time. While enhancement varied linearly with ultrasound intensity and exposure time, it was independent of the mode in the range of parameters studied.⁷⁴ The enhancement was also directly proportional to the ultrasound energy density once the threshold value was exceeded. For full thickness pig skin, the threshold value was about 222 J/cm², however, it must be kept in mind that this value may depend on the skin type itself and vary between different skin models.

1.5 Ultrasound before or after the application of the drug

Phonophoresis of mannitol across pig skin, *in vitro*, was reported to be identical whether ultrasound was applied before application of the compound, or simultaneously. This suggested the absence of significant convection processes during phonophoresis. It may also be assumed that the effect of ultrasound on skin structure was roughly similar in both cases.⁷⁴ Skin permeability in the form of skin conduction was measured after a close relationship between these two phenomena was established. The conductivity decreased by about 10 % after ultrasound was turned off (at 1.5 h), and thereafter remained nearly constant for the next 20 h. The skin conductivity 20 h after sonication was higher than that of control skin specimens. The data suggested that skin remained permeable well beyond the sonication time for ultrasound parameters used in that study.

Rosim *et al.* conducted a quantitative study of sodium diclofenac (Voltaren Emulgel®, Novartis) phonophoresis in humans.³⁷ Volunteers received ultrasound (continuous, 1 MHz, 0.5 W/cm², 5 min) on two 225 cm² areas on the dorsum (group A), followed by the application of the gel. Plasma diclofenac mass was measured at 1, 2 and 3 hours. The same procedure was repeated one month later with the same volunteers, but the ultrasound was switched off for this control group (group B). The plasma diclofenac mass was significantly higher up to 2 hours in group A. After 3 hours it was still higher, but the difference was not significant.

However, with a larger molecule such as insulin, pre-treatment with ultrasound was not effective in enhancing transdermal transport, even though effective transdermal transport of this hormone could be achieved during sonication.⁷⁶ The increased skin permeability to a drug may therefore not always persist after the cessation of sonication.³⁰

1.6 Coupling agent

An ideal coupling agent should exhibit an absorption coefficient similar to that of degassed water. The presence of air bubbles in the contact medium reduces ultrasound transmission and a good coupling agent will therefore exhibit a low capacity for dissolved gases. Even minute amounts of air can disrupt the flow of energy. The coupling agent should also retain a gel or paste consistency at body temperature, ensuring that the gel will remain on the skin and provide intimate contact between the transducer head and the epidermis in order to allow maximum energy transfer.⁷⁷

General topical pharmaceutical products containing the active drug have often been used as the coupling material during phonophoresis. The problem with this approach is that, unlike contact media designed specifically for this purpose, topical pharmaceutical products are generally not formulated to optimize their efficiency as ultrasound couplants. Consequently, much of the ultrasound energy may be lost before it reaches the skin.⁷⁸ A group of investigators examined the transmission of ultrasound energy at frequencies of 0.75, 1.5, 3 MHz through 41 different common topical pharmaceutical preparations.⁵⁹ Large variations in ultrasound transmissions were observed between different products as well as, in some cases, between the same products at different frequencies. Benson and McElnay conducted a study in which ultrasound transmission through commercially available topical products containing non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs was investigated.⁷⁸ The percentage transmission of ultrasound was measured relative to deionised degassed water at a range of frequencies (0.75, 1.5, 3 MHz with total power output of 1.5 and 5 Watts). A Bio-tek® wattmeter was used to measure ultrasound transmission. Gel-based formulations were shown to transmit ultrasound efficiently at 1.5 and 3.0 MHz, but less efficiently at 0.75 MHz. This confirmed their findings in 1988 where a frequencydependent attenuation was reported.⁷⁸ A possible rationale for these findings is that the higher frequencies ultrasound may cause some breakdown of the polymer chains of the viscosity-inducing agents used in topical formulations. This would have a fluidizing effect on the formulation, with less attenuation of the ultrasound wave.

Phonophoresis in animal studies most effectively increased hydrocortisone penetration, but also caused skin burns on the animals.⁴⁵ Such treatments can obviously not be applied in the clinical setting and skin damage alone is also known to increase transdermal drug penetration. A poorly transmitting coupling medium may convert ultrasound energy into heat and this may explain the findings of these and similar studies.

Although the ideal ultrasound dosimetry for clinical application of phonophoresis is unknown, irrespective of the intensity setting, a medium must be employed that transmits effectively to achieve predictable ultrasound transfer. When a poor transmission medium is used, much less ultrasound energy reaches the patient than that shown by the ultrasound parameter settings. Fortunately, a wide selection of media exists that do transmit ultrasound well and these should be used with the ultrasound power and frequency settings most appropriate to the pathology treated.

Degradation of drugs by ultrasound was studied *in vitro* and did not occur for insulin, fentanyl and caffeine.⁷⁶ The persistence of biological activity of insulin and low-molecular weight heparin *in vivo* was also in accordance with the absence of degradation under the phonophoretic conditions used.^{40,73} It therefore appears as if most molecules are generally stable at the ultrasound intensities employed in phonophoresis.

Pectora roborant cultus recti

1.7 Diclofenac

Diclofenac is a NSAID, available for oral, rectal, intramuscular and topical use. It is a phenylacetic acid derivate and has analgesic, anti-pyretic and anti-inflammatory activities.

Diclofenac, 2-[2,6-dichlorophenyl) amino] benzeneacetic is an acidic compound (pKa = 3.80 at 25° C), has a high partition coefficient (log P = 4.0), with very low aqueous solubility (6 x 10^{-5} M at 25 °C) in the unionised form.⁷⁹ Because of these characteristics, it is often administered in a salt form.^{79,80} Salt formation is a commonly employed method for enhancing the solubility and dissolution rate of poorly soluble weak acids or bases. Therefore diclofenac is mainly used as sodium or potassium salt, or as a salt with diethylamine (Fig. 4) or N-(2-hydroxyethyl) pyrrolidine for topical formulations. When the diethylammonium (diethylamine) salt of diclofenac is prepared, its water-solubility increases significantly (46 mM at 25 °C). It

has been suggested that, in solution, ion-pair species are formed between the cations and anions present in the diclofenac diethylammonium salt. These ion-pairs display a lower hydrophilicity than the two ions considered separately and offer unusual behaviour for ionic species, such as high solubility in non-polar solvents or increased partitioning into lipid phases. The ion-pairs of the diclofenac diethylammonium salt would therefore be able to pass through the lipid barrier of the stratum corneum into the dermis where the pH would cause a shift towards a more dissociated form of diclofenac, which is better able to travel through the hydrophilic dermal layers.^{79,80}



Fig. 4. Diclofenac Diethylammonium (diethylamine)

Voltaren Emulgel® (Fig. 5) is an anti-inflammatory and analgesic preparation designed for external application. Voltaren Emulgel® (100 g) contains 1,16 g diclofenac diethylammonium corresponding to 1 g diclofenac sodium. The base is a fatty emulsion containing isopropanol and propylene glycol, in an aqueous gel.⁸¹ Both the isopropanol and the propylene glycol are classified as humectants and are thus capable of bringing about hydration and hydrophilisation of the stratum corneum, facilitating the absorption of diclofenac. Propylene glycol is also classified as a penetration enhancer, which causes increased penetration of diclofenac through the stratum corneum. The action of propylene glycol as a potential penetration enhancer has been questioned. Several authors have reported that its action is based on its cosolvent effect.⁸² In this case, drug penetration is thermodynamically controlled. Only limited data demonstrate an enhancer effect in which drug penetration increases with increasing propylene glycol content of the formulation. This promoting effect is related to the solvent drag effect of propylene glycol.^{83,84}



Fig. 5 Voltaren Emulgel®

Experimental studies have shown that when applied locally, the active substance penetrates the skin and the underlying tissue, and combats acute and chronic inflammatory reactions. It is an inhibitor of cyclooxygenase (COX 1 and 2) and therefore responsible for a reduction in prostaglandin, thromboxane and prostacyclin production, which are mediators of the inflammatory process. It is relatively effective in comparison with other NSAIDs and plasma concentrations of 100 ng.ml⁻¹ are associated with a therapeutic effect. Cutaneous application leads to the absorption of about 6 % of the dose administered, and is associated with serum drug concentrations well below those observed after standard oral or intramuscular dosage and below the range at which side effects usually occur.⁸⁵ It has been claimed that the topical application of diclofenac over an inflamed joint results in synovial fluid drug concentrations which exceed systemic plasma concentrations, suggesting a direct penetration of drug into the synovial fluid of the joint.⁸⁵ When given orally, GIT absorption is rapid and complete with an approximate first passeffect of 50 %. Protein binding is 99.7 % and the mean terminal elimination half-life of the unchanged drug is 1 to 2 hours. Diclofenac and its metabolites are mainly excreted in the urine.⁸¹

1.8 In vitro permeability studies for drug testing

Different types of diffusion equipment are available for the study of *in vitro* tissue permeability. The different flow cells include the conventional static Franz cells (Fig. 6), where an accurate volume of sample must be removed with a simultaneous media replacement, and the Ussing chamber (Fig. 7), optimized for the use of high-frequency alternating current stimuli, as well as flow-through diffusion cells (Fig. 8).^{86,87}



Fig. 6. Schematic drawing of a Franz cell



Fig. 7. An Ussing chamber



Fig. 8. Schematic drawing of a flow-through diffusion cell

A flow-through diffusion apparatus was used in the present study (Fig. 9). It contains 7 flow-through diffusion cells. Each cell contains an acceptor chamber through which there is a continuous flow of buffer. This ensures sink conditions throughout the course of the experiment. Therefore, at the completion of each run the concentration of permeant in the acceptor chamber never reached 10 % of that in the donor compartment. In contrast to the static Franz cells, the flow-through diffusion cells offers automation with the addition of a pump that offers an accurate, constant flow rate of buffer. The only other requirement is the addition of a fraction collector.⁸⁶ The drug is added to the donor compartment of the flow cell and collected by means of a fraction collector from the acceptor compartment of the flow cell. This is done for the required time period of the experiment, at a constant flow rate. The drug in the effluent may be detected by various means e.g. measuring labelled drug (radio-labelled, fluorescent-labelled) by means of scintillation counting, UV spectroscopy, fluorospectroscopy or high-performance liquid chromatography.



Fig. 9. Flow-through diffusion apparatus used in the present study

1.9 Aim

Because many of the agents employed topically, e.g. the non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) do not penetrate skin optimally, the aim of the current study was to assess the effects of therapeutic levels of ultrasound on the transdermal permeation of diclofenac. For this purpose a dual-stage experimental design and a continuous flow-through diffusion system were used. Researchers in the Department of Pharmacology, Stellenbosch University, have extensive previous experience with the continuous flow-through diffusion system to determine the diffusion kinetics of a wide variety of therapeutic agents and other chemical compounds across fresh and frozen human vaginal and buccal mucosa, skin, venous tissue and rabbit as well as human corneas.^{36,88-97} This prompted us to use the flow-through diffusion system to study the effects of ultrasound on the permeability of diclofenac across human skin. Furthermore, the aim of the study was to develop an *in vitro* flow-through diffusion model that could be used to predict values for *in vivo* studies. Ultrasonic heating and temperature variations in the skin were also studied to evaluate the sonication-heating theory in which permeability changes in skin are primarily attributed to thermally-induced changes in stratum corneum lipids.



2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Skin

Skin specimens were obtained from excess tissue removed from 18 females, mean age 41 ± 13 SD (range: 18-62) yr, during breast reduction procedures at the Louis Leipoldt Hospital, Bellville, South Africa. No specimens were obtained where there was clinical evidence of any disease that might have influenced the permeability characteristics of the skin.

All skin specimens were immediately placed in a transport fluid after removal and transferred to our laboratory within 24 hours. The transport fluid consisted of a stock solution of Eagle's Minimum Essential Medium (MEM) without L-glutamine and sodium bicarbonate (Gibco, Paisley, Scotland), to which the latter as well as an antibiotic (penicillin/streptomycin, 100 IU/ml) and an antimycotic (amphotericin-B, 2.5 μ g /ml) were added prior to using it for the transport of tissue specimens. In the laboratory excess connective tissue was trimmed away and specimens from each patient (10 x 10 mm) were snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at –85 °C. Prior to use the frozen samples were thawed and hydrated in PBS for at least 24 hours at 4 °C.

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Stellenbosch University and the Tygerberg Academic Hospital.

2.2 Diclofenac

Voltaren Emulgel® (Fig. 5), containing 1.16 g diclofenac diethylammonium equivalent to 1 g diclofenac sodium/ 10 g (i.e. 10 mg/g), was obtained form Novartis SA (Pty) Ltd, Rivonia, South Africa.

2.3 Sonication

Thawed skin specimens were placed on a gel-filled plastic bag which acted as a heat sink, and tightly covered with Parafilm® (Pechiney Plastic packaging, Menasha, WI 54952, USA) into which a fenestration (6 x 6 mm) was made yielding an exposed epidermal area of 0.36 cm² (Fig. 10).



Fig. 10. Skin specimen covered by Parafilm® with a fenestration (gel-filled bag underneath the skin specimen serves as a heat sink)

A measured quantity (0.05 ml \sim 0.05 mg) of diclofenac was lightly applied to the exposed area and the transducer placed over the gel. This gel acted also as a contact medium (coupling agent). Ultrasound (2 W/cm², 3 MHz, continuous) was applied using a sonicator (Sonopuls 590®, DIMEQ, Delft Instruments, Delft, The Netherlands) for 10 minutes (Figs. 11 and 12). Control specimens, which were not exposed to ultrasound, were included in the permeability experiment. The exposed area of the control samples was also covered with diclofenac, but did not receive any ultrasound.



Fig. 11. Sonopuls 590® (Sonicator)



Fig. 12. Transducer head

2.4 Permeability experiments

Sonicated and control specimens of skin were mounted in flow-through diffusion cells (exposed areas 0.196 ± 0.002 SD cm²) and permeation studies performed on 7 tissue replicates for each patient.³⁶ Voltaren Emulgel® (0.5 ml (~ 0.5 mg)) was placed in the donor compartment of each flow-through diffusion cell (Fig. 9).

The gels were covered with a Teflon disk and 0.5 ml of PBS. PBS at 37 °C was pumped through the acceptor chambers at a rate of 1.5 ml/h and collected by means of a fraction collector, at 2-h intervals for 24 h. The permeability study was performed under sink conditions, i.e. at the completion of each run the concentration of NSAID in the acceptor chamber never reached 10 % of that in the donor compartment. The above experiments (sonication and controls) were repeated and fractions collected at 20-min intervals for 4 h (phase 1). The diclofenac in the acceptor chambers was quantified by means of HPLC analysis.

2.4.1 HPLC determination of diclofenac

Permeant-containing effluent samples, collected from the acceptor compartments of the perfusion apparatus over the 20-min and 2-h sampling intervals, were analyzed using an Hewlett Packard 1100 series high-performance binary liquid chromatograph (Agilent Technologies, Waldbronn, Germany) with an Agilent Eclipse (XDB-C18) Zorbax analytical column (5 μ m particle size), 150 mm x 4.6 mm (ID) (Fig. 13). The latter column was preceded by a 30 x 2.1 mm (ID) C₁₈ guard column (40 μ m particle size). The temperature was maintained at 40 °C and flow rates of 1.0 ml/min were used. The mobile phase consisted of a mixture of two solvents, A (50 mM KH₂PO₄, pH 5.42) and B (acetonitrile-isopropanol; 4:1 v/v). An isocratic mixture of A:B of

65:35 was used for the determination of diclofenac. All reagents used for the mobile phase were HPLC grade (Burdick & Jackson, Honeywell International Inc, Muskegon, MI, USA) and were filtered through a 0.45 μ m filter. Deionised water was used for preparing all aqueous standard and buffer solutions. Aliquots (50 μ l) from each sample were injected directly into the column. Diclofenac was detected at 273 nm (retention time 2.3 minutes). Total run time was 3.5 minutes. Recording and integration of peaks was performed by means of an Agilent Chem Station. Spiked standards over the expected concentration range (0.5-20 μ g/ml) were randomly included in each batch.



Fig. 13. HPLC used in the present study

2.5 Temperature experiments

In order to study heat-producing effects of ultrasound on skin, thawed skin specimens were sonicated as described in section 2.3.

Resistance (k Ω) of a waterbath-calibrated (20 °C to 42.5 °C) miniature glass bead thermistor (47 k Ω @ 20 °C, RS Components, UK) was measured using a digital multimeter (MASTECH®, Electrical and Electronic Measuring and Testing Equipment, Taiwan) immediately before (ambient temperature) and directly after cessation of sonication (Fig. 14).



Fig. 14. Digital multimeter and Thermistor

To minimize heat loss during the measuring process, the thermistor was held tightly against the subdermal connective tissue sandwiched between two insulating polystyrene sheets. Tissue temperatures were read off directly from the previously constructed resistance vs. temperature calibration curve. After removing the insulating polystyrene sheets, times taken for the specimens to return to presonication temperatures were also recorded.

For studying temperature-dependency of ${}^{3}\text{H}_{2}\text{O}$ flux rates, specimens of thawed, hydrated skin were mounted in flow-through diffusion cells (exposed areas 0.196 cm²) and permeability studies performed on 7 tissue replicates, as previously described.³⁶ Prior to each permeability experiment, the thawed skin specimens were equilibrated for 10 min in PBS (pH 7.4) at 37 °C in the diffusion cells. The PBS was then removed from the donor compartment and replaced with 1.0 ml of PBS containing 1 µCi ³H-water (Amersham Laboratories, Little Chalfont, Amersham, UK). Aliquots (100 µl) were removed within minutes from each of the seven donor compartments for the determination of donor cell concentration at time zero. A flow rate of 1.5 ml/h was maintained and fractions collected, by means of a fraction collector, at 2-h intervals. Temperatures were kept constant at 37 °C for the first 12 h of the experiment. Hereafter, they were increased to 42 °C for 6 h and then lowered again to 37 °C. The latter temperature (37 °C) was maintained for the remaining 6 h of the experiment.

were performed under sink conditions, as described before (section 2.4). Scintillation cocktail (10 ml) (PCS Scintillation Cocktail; Amersham Biosciences, Uppsala, Sweden) was added to each sample collected and the radioactivity determined using a Beckman LS 5000TD liquid scintillation counter (Beckman Instruments, Fullerton, CA, USA) (Fig. 15). The counting of the samples was continued until a 2-s value of 1 % was reached. Quenching for each sample was automatically corrected in the counter.



Fig. 15. Beckman LS 5000TD liquid scintillation counter (Beckman Instruments, Fullerton, CA, USA)

2.6 Calculation of flux values

Flux (J) values of diclofenac across membranes were calculated by means of the relationship: $J = Q/A \times t$ (µg x cm⁻² x min⁻¹), where Q = quantity of diclofenac crossing membrane (µg), A = Membrane area exposed (cm²) and t = time of exposure (min). For the ³H₂O experiments, flux values were calculated using the same relationship as above, but were expressed as dpm x cm⁻² x min⁻¹, with Q = quantity of ³H₂O crossing membrane (dpm).

2.7 Steady state kinetics

It was assumed that when no statistically significant difference at the 5 % level (t-test with Welch's correction) between flux values were obtained over at least 2 consecutive time intervals, a steady state (equilibrium kinetics) had been reached for a particular skin specimen and the diclofenac or ${}^{3}\text{H}_{2}\text{O}$.

2.8 Statistical Analysis

Non-linear regression analyses (third order polynomials) were performed using a GraphPad Prism, version 4, 2003 computer programme. A F-test was used to compare entire curves.⁹⁸ A t-test at steady state, was also performed for comparative purposes. A significant level of 5 % was used for all tests and comparisons.



3. Results

3.1 Permeability experiments

The overall mean flux values of diclofenac ex Voltaren Emulgel® across human skin versus time (24 h) are shown in Fig. 16. The graph exists out of 2 phases (dual-stage kinetic diffusion pattern) of which the first phase is encircled in green. During the first phase or 4 hours there is a decline in flux values and during the second phase there is an increase of flux values of both the sonicated and control groups. Steady-state fluxes were obtained after approximately 14 h. Significant differences, at the 5 % level, using a F-test and comparing entire curves could be demonstrated between flux values of diclofenac across sonicated and control skin specimens (P = 4.16 x 10⁻⁹). Flux values for diclofenac across sonicated skin were on average double those across control skin specimens.



Fig. 16. Mean flux values for diclofenac ex gel across human skin with and without ultrasonication (US)

The overall mean flux values of diclofenac ex Voltaren Emulgel® across human skin versus time (4 h) are shown in Fig. 17. Significant differences, at the 5 % level (F-test, comparing entire curves), could be demonstrated between the flux values of diclofenac across sonicated and control skin specimens (P = 3.05×10^{-10}).



Fig. 17. Mean flux values for diclofenac ex gel across human skin with and without ultrasonication (US)

Fig. 18 shows the flux ratios for diclofenac gel across human skin with and without sonication (control) over 4 h with a regression analysis which clearly shows a linear relationship between these ratios ($r^2 = 0.7796$, y = -0.007x + 2.61). At the start of the experiment the flux ratio between the sonicated and control specimens is 2.61, which declines over the 4 h period. This value is calculated by extrapolating the linear graph to the y-axis at time zero and is indicated by an arrow. The 95 % confidence intervals (CI) are also shown (Fig. 18).



Fig. 18. Flux ratio for diclofenac ex gel across human skin with/without ultrasonication (US)

Using the Higuchi model, the cumulative amount of released diclofenac (μ g.cm⁻²) permeating the skin specimen per unit surface area was plotted against the square root of time (h^{1/2}).⁹⁹ Assumptions associated with the Higuchi model include that: (a) only single drug molecules are assumed to diffuse; (b) the drug is able to diffuse out of the membrane; (c) the drug reaching the acceptor chamber fluid is rapidly removed. Since the infinite dose technique was used in the present study, it was essential that less than 10 % of the amount of diclofenac introduced onto the skin surface in the donor chamber permeated through the skin in order to maintain sink conditions. Mean apparent release rates (slopes) and lag times (x-axis intercepts) were calculated by linear regression analysis of the plots of (μ g.cm⁻²) vs. (h^{1/2}) using the Higuchi equation (Fig. 19).⁹⁹ For the sonicated and control specimens apparent release rates were 168.3 \pm 1.4 and 135.5 \pm 1.5 μ g.cm⁻².h^{-1/2}, lag times were 3.34 and 3.56 $h^{\frac{1}{2}}$ and r^2 - values were 0.9998 and 0.9996, respectively. The non-linearly related portions of the data curves, i.e. $<3 h^{\frac{1}{2}}$, were excluded from the linear regression plots for both the sonicated and control specimens and hence have been omitted from Fig. 19. The graph of plasma concentration of diclofenac with and without sonication has been drawn using published data (Fig. 20).³⁷



Fig. 19. Cumulative flux values for diclofenac ex gel with and without ultrasonication (US)



Fig. 20. Plasma concentration of diclofenac with and without ultrasonication (US) (using published data³⁷)

3.2 Temperature experiments

The calibration curve for the thermistor (Resistance (k Ω) vs. Temperature (°C)) is shown in Fig. 21. Average pre-sonication (ambient) skin temperatures were 20.8 ± 0.83 °C and rose to 31.0 ± 1.92 °C (N = 8) following sonication. Subsequent to cessation of ultrasound, these post-sonication temperatures returned to their pre-sonication values after approximately 3 min (Fig. 22).



Fig. 21. Calibration curve of resistance vs. temperature for thermistor



Fig. 22. Heat loss after cessation of ultrasound for human skin

Average flux values for ${}^{3}\text{H}_{2}\text{O}$ across skin rose significantly (p<0.05) from 186 ± 16 dpm.cm⁻².min⁻¹ at 37 °C to maximally 316 ± 26 dpm.cm⁻².min⁻¹ at 42 °C and decreased to approximately 235 ± 12 dpm.cm⁻².min⁻¹ after the temperature was again lowered to 37 °C (Fig. 23). Steady state flux values at 37 °C were obtained between 8 h and 12 h (183 ± 17 dpm.cm⁻².min⁻¹) and again between 20 h and 24 h (243 ± 13 dpm.cm⁻².min⁻¹).



Fig. 23. Overall mean flux values of ³H₂O across human skin at 37 °C and 42 °C



4. Discussion

4.1 Permeability experiments

Previous studies have shown that skin specimens can be frozen and banked without their permeability properties to a number of different permeants being changed.^{36,100,101} In view of the foregoing, the assumption of using frozen/thawed skin for the current permeability study was considered to be a reasonable one.

From the results obtained in the present study, it is clear that ultrasound enhanced the permeability of human skin to diclofenac released from a commercially available gel, following the dual-stage kinetic diffusion pattern consistent with the design of the experiment (Figs. 16 and 17). This may be explained as follows. Subsequent to the application of ultrasound to the thin layer of diclofenac gel on the stratum corneum, which also acted as its own coupling medium, a certain quantity of the diclofenac was driven along its own concentration as well as the acoustic energy gradient into the underlying layers of skin. For the controls, the diclofenac diffused into the skin solely under its own concentration gradient. In the flow-through diffusion apparatus this primary quantity of diclofenac diffused out of the skin layers into the acceptor chamber. This occurred under the influence of the 10-fold higher concentration gradient created by the secondary amount of diclofenac gel applied to the skin before mounting the specimen in the donor chamber. The foregoing events are apparent from the decreasing flux values resulting from the depletion of this primary reservoir of diclofenac in the skin (sink conditions not satisfied), over the initial 4 h (first phase) of the experiment (Figs. 16 and 17). It can also be seen from the negative slope of the flux ratio plot (sonicated/control) over 4 h which, when extrapolated to its y-axis intercept at zero time, shows a flux enhancement ratio of 2.61 (Fig. 18). Hereafter, there occurred a gradual increase of flux as the secondary quantity of diclofenac from the donor chamber diffused across the skin following classical (Fickian) first order diffusion kinetics and reaching steady state after approximately 14 h. The latter values concur with the squares of the lag phase (x-axis intercepts) (Fig. 19). It is evident from the regression lines of the sonicated vs. the control specimens that ultrasound increases the release rate of diclofenac from the gel to the skin and shortens the lag phase (Fig. 19). This is in contrast with the observations made in a previous in vitro study on the sonophoresis of ibuprofen, a drug falling in the proprionic acid class of NSAIDs of which diclofenac is also a member, across human skin.¹⁰² However, the results from the present study regarding release rate and lag

phase are in agreement of those made in two in vivo studies on rats and guinea pigs.^{30,103} It is interesting to note that the steady state flux values of diclofenac across sonicated skin specimens remained approximately 1.26 times higher than those of the controls for the remainder of the experiment. While the skin was heated by approximately 10 °C following sonication, there was a return to pre-sonication temperature values after 3 min. Furthermore, the reversible temperature-dependent flux changes of ³H₂O between 37 ^oC and 42 ^oC support the barrier lipid layer fluidity theory. In this theory the crystalline/gel barrier lipid domains undergo transitions (premelting) towards more disordered structures with increasing temperatures.⁵³ Between 41 °C and 42 °C, a clearly characterised phase transition of the intercellular lipid domains to an even more fluid and disordered state occurs.⁵⁴ Because the compositions and physical structures of the lipid domains affect the barrier functions of skin, thermally-induced rearrangements of these systems change diffusion characteristics of permeants. This has been amply demonstrated for both skin and mucosae.^{104-107,108} Flux rates of drugs and other chemical entities across human skin are therefore expected to rise with increasing, and fall with decreasing temperatures. The fact that this did not occur for diclofenac for at least 24 h following sonication in the present study strongly suggests that ultrasonically increased skin permeability, and hence flux rates, cannot be primarily ascribed to heating phenomena. This concurs with data from a previous in vivo study in which increased permeability of the stratum corneum caused by sonication was shown to remain stable for 15 h following sonication and returned to its normal pre-sonication state by 24 h.³⁵ It was also demonstrated in another more recent in vivo study on 14 healthy human volunteers that diclofenac plasma levels were higher for at least 3 h following sonication than those in the same volunteers, acting as their own controls, one month later without sonication (Fig. 20).³⁷ However, it must be borne in mind that the "recuperative" properties of *in vitro* sonicated skin following ultrasonic insult may differ from those of the same tissue in vivo. The results from the present study support the concept that sonication causes profound and extended changes ("damage") of the stratum corneum, probably by perturbing its lipid barrier layer, and hence increase the skin's permeability to diclofenac. These sonication-induced changes may be indicative of cavitational channel-opening in the lipid layers, consistent with the porous pathway theory.³⁴ The observed permeability changes were irreversible during the 24 h over which the present study was conducted. Moreover, the effects of sonicationenhancement on the present *in vitro* transdermal permeation kinetics of diclofenac, concurred with those found in the previous in vivo study.³⁷

4.2 Temperature experiments

It is an established fact that when skin is heated, its permeability increases and transport of a variety of chemical substances across this tissue is enhanced.^{104,108-110} When ultrasound passes through biological tissues, a large fraction of the acoustic energy is attenuated by the dual process of scatter and absorption. The latter is primarily in the form of heat and is dependent on the type of tissue and the amount of energy passing through it. These thermal effects of ultrasound (sonication-heating) have been considered to be a major mechanism in the enhancement of fluxes of compounds across skin during sonication.^{49,111} This increased permeability has been attributed to an increased fluidity of the stratum corneum intercellular lipids, which are thought to constitute the major barrier towards penetration of chemical substances across human skin.^{17,55} Furthermore, thermal energy also increases the molecular diffusivity of the permeant molecules.^{14,56}

From the results of the present study it can be seen that the temperature of the skin specimens increased by approximately 10 °C, from 20.8 \pm 0.83 °C to 31.0 \pm 1.92 °C, following exposure to continuous mode ultrasound of 3 MHz at an intensity of 2 W/cm² for 10 minutes (Fig. 22). These increased temperatures returned to presonication (ambient) values approximately 3 min after cessation of ultrasound. Moreover, the reversible temperature-dependent flux changes of ³H₂O between 37 °C and 42 °C support the barrier lipid layer fluidity theory (Fig. 23). The observation that the flux values between 20 and 24 h remained slightly higher than those between 8 and 12 h may possibly be attributed to "base-line drift" following minor degradative changes of human skin during in vitro exposure to elevated temperatures of 42 °C for several hours. Similar reversible temperature-dependent flux changes have also previously been reported for the permeation of ${}^{3}\text{H}_{2}\text{O}$ and 17βestradiol through human mucosa.¹⁰⁵⁻¹⁰⁷ While in the present study, the temperaturedependent flux changes were rapidly reversible, this was not found to be the case in a previously published study in which the permeability changes to skin following sonication were stable for 15 h and only returned to their normal pre-sonication state by 24 h.³⁵ The prolonged skin permeability in excess of 15 h seen in the latter study appears to indicate barrier perturbation due to ultrasound by mechanisms other than the short-lived and reversible changes caused by temperature fluctuations. The results from the study by Kost *et al.*³⁵, and the present study are therefore clearly at variance with the sonication-heating theory.^{49,111} It can therefore be concluded that the results in this study do not support the sonication-heating theory in which the permeability changes observed in skin, following sonication, are attributed primarily to thermally-induced fluidity changes in the barrier lipids of the stratum corneum.



5. Conclusions

In conclusion, it has been demonstrated in the present study that sonication of human skin with therapeutic levels of ultrasound caused an increased permeability to diclofenac which persisted for the entire course of the 24 h-experiment. Although sonication causes some tissue heating and hence an increase in permeability, the changes observed in the latter property of skin cannot be adequately explained primarily on a thermal basis. Furthermore, the *in vitro* flow-through diffusion model used in the present study has been shown to have predictive value for *in vivo* studies. However, considering the widely differing chemical and physical properties of agents on their diffusability across membranes, further validation of the above *in vitro* sonication model using a range of different compounds is warranted.



6. References

- 1. Heyneman CA, Lawless-Liday C, Wall GC 2000. Oral versus Topical NSAIDS in Rheumatic Diseases. Drugs 60 (3): 555-574.
- Stiel D 2000. Exploring the link between gastrointestinal complications and over-the-counter analgesics: current issues and considerations. American Journal of Therapeutics 7: 91-98.
- American College of Rheumatology Ad Hoc Committee on Clinical guidelines 1996. Guidelines for the management of rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis & Rheumatism 39 (5): 713-722.
- Singh G 2000. Gastrointestinal complications of prescription and over-thecounter nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: a view from the ARAMIS database. Arthritis, Rheumatism, and Aging Medical Information System. American Journal of Therapeutics 7: 115-121.
- Vaile JH, Davis P 1998. Topical NSAIDs for Musculoskeletal Conditions. Drugs 56 (5): 783-799.
- 6. MacKie RM 1987. Clinical Dermatology: An Illustrated Textbook. 3rd Edn., New York, NY: Marcel Dekker Inc, chap 3, pp 83-92.
- Williams AC 2003. In: Transdermal and Topical Drug Delivery. 1st Edn., Pharmaceutical Press, pp 1-49.
- 8. Silverthorn DU 1998. In: Human Physiology: an integrated approach. Prentice-Hall Inc., Upper Saddle River, New Jersey, p 67.
- 9. By courtesy of Prof. IOC Thompson, Oral Pathology, Stellenbosch University.
- 10. Joshi A, Jaideep R 2002. Sonicated transdermal drug transport. Journal of Controlled Release 83 (1): 13-22.
- Barry BW 2001. Novel mechanisms and devices to enable successful transdermal drug delivery. European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 14 (2): 101-114.
- Singh P, Roberts MS 1994. Skin permeability and local tissue concentrations of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs after topical application. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 268: 144-151.
- Wilkes GL, Brown IA, Wildnauer RH 1973. The biochemical properties of skin. CRC Critical Review of Bioengineering 1 (4): 453-95.
- 14. Byl NB 1995. The use of ultrasound as an enhancer for transcutaneous drug delivery: phonophoresis. Physical Therapy 75: 539-553.

- Payne-James JJ, Bray MJ, Kapadia S, Rana SK, McSwiggan D, Silk DB 1992. Topical nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory gel for the prevention of peripheral vein thrombophlebitis. Anaesthesia 47: 324-326.
- Webster RC, Maibach HI 1991. Individual and regional variation with *in vitro* percutaneous absorption. In: Bronaugh RL, Maibach HI, eds. *In vitro* Percutaneous Absorption: Principles, Fundamentals, and Applications. Ann Arbor, Mich: CRC Press, chap 4 (pp 26-30), chap 20 (pp 129-156).
- Akomeah F, Nazir T, Martin GP, Brown MB 2004. Effect of heat on the percutaneous absorption and skin retention of three model penetrants. European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 21: 337-345.
- Cordero JA, Alacron L, Escribano E, Obach R, Domenech J 1997. A comparative study of the transdermal penetration of a series of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Journal of Pharmaceutical Science 86: 503-508.
- 19. Wenkers BP, Lippold BC 2000. Prediction of the efficacy of cutaneously applied non-steroidal drugs from a lipophilic vehicle. Arzneimittelforschung 50: 275-280.
- 20. Guy RH, Hadgraft J 2003. In: Transdermal Drug Delivery. 2nd Edn., Marcel Dekker, Inc. Basel: New York, pp 255-284.
- 21. Barry BW, El Eini DID 1976. Influence of non-ionic surfactants on permeation of hydrocortisone, dexamethasone, testosterone and progesterone across cellulose acetate membrane. Journal of Pharmaceutical Pharmacology 28: 219-227.
- Kassan DG, Lynch AM, Stiller MJ 1996. Physical enhancement of dermatologic drug delivery: iontophoresis and phonophoresis. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology 34 (4): 657-666.
- 23. Stuart J, McKeen JM 2002. Ultrasound usage and dosage in sports physiotherapy. Ultrasound in Medicine & Biology 28: 1075-1080.
- Robertson VJ 2002. Dosage and treatment response in randomized clinical trials of therapeutic ultrasound. Physical Therapy in Sport 3: 124-133.
- 25. Lavon I, Kost J 2004. Ultrasound and transdermal drug delivery. Drug Discovery Today 9 (15): 670-676.
- 26. Robertson VJ, Baker KG 2001. A review of therapeutic ultrasound: Effectiveness studies. Physical Therapy 81: 1339-1350.
- 27. Gam AN, Johannson F 1995. Ultrasound therapy in musculoskeletal disorders: a meta-analysis. Pain 63: 85-91.

- 28. Fellinger VK, Schmid J 1952. Intraarticular cortisone therapy. Wiener Klinische Wochenschrift 64: 337-379.
- Mitragotri S, Blanckschtein D, Langer R 1996. Transdermal drug delivery using low-frequency sonophoresis. Pharmaceutical Research 13 (3): 411-20.
- Tabchibana K, Tabchibana S 1991. Transdermal delivery of insulin by ultrasonic vibration. Journal of Pharmaceutical Pharmacology 43: 270-271.
- Kost J, Levy D, Meshulam Y, Langer R 1989. Effect of ultrasound on transdermal drug delivery to rats and guinea pigs. Journal of Clinical Investment 83: 2074-2078.
- 32. Floros JD, Liang H 1994. Acoustically assisted diffusion through membranes and biomaterials. Food Technology 48 (12): 79-84.
- 33. Machet L, Boucaud A 2002. Phonophoresis: efficiency, mechanisms and skin tolerance. International Journal of Pharmaceutics 243: 1-15.
- Mitragotri S, Kost J 2004. Low-frequency sonophoresis- a review. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 56 (5): 589-601.
- 35. Kost J, Mitragotri S, Gabbay RA, Pishko M, Langer R 2000. Transdermal monitoring of glucose and other analytes using ultrasound. Nature Medicine 6 (3): 347-250.
- 36. Van der Bijl P, Van Eyk AD, Seifart HI, De Jager F, Nel CMM 2003. Diffusion of diclofenac and piroxicam from commercially available gels through human skin. South African Journal of Physiotherapy 59: 3-6.
- Rosim GC, Barbieri CH, Lanças FM, Mazzer N 2005. Diclofenac phonophoresis in human volunteers. Ultrasound in Medicine & Biology 31 (3): 337-433.
- Benson HAE, McElnay JC 1989. Lack of effect of ultrasound of the percutaneous absorption of benzydamine. Journal of Pharmaceutical Pharmacology 38: Suppl. 73P.
- 39. Tachibana K 1992. Transdermal delivery of insulin to alloxan-diabetic rabbits by ultrasound exposure. Pharmaceutical Research 9: 952-954.
- 40. Mitragotri S, Blankshtein D, Langer R 1995. Ultrasound-mediated transdermal protein delivery. Sciences 269: 850-853.
- 41. Yamashita N, Tachibana K, Ogawa K, Tsujita N, Tomita A 1997. Scanning electron microscopy evaluation of the skin surface after ultrasound exposure. Anatomical Record 247 (4): 455-461.

- Machet L, Cohelin N, Patat F, Arbeille B, Machet C, Lorette G, Vaillant L 1998. *In vitro* phonophoresis of mannitol and hydrocortisone across hairless mouse and human skin. International Journal of Pharmaceutics 165: 169-174.
- 43. Pitt WG 2003. Defining the role of ultrasound in drug delivery. American Journal of Drug Delivery 1 (1): 27-42.
- 44. Cameroy BM 1966. Ultrasound enhanced local anaesthesia. American Journal of Orthopaedics 8: 47.
- Greenleaf WJ, Bolander ME, Sarkar G, Goldring MB, Greenleaf JF 1998.
 Artificial cavitation nuclei significantly enhance acoustically induced cell transfection. Ultrasound in Medicine & Biology 24: 587-595.
- Griffen JE, Touchstone JC 1963. Ultrasonic movement of cortisol into pig tissue. 1-Movement into skeletal muscle. American Journal of Physical Medicine 42: 77-85.
- 47. McElnay JC, Benson HAE, Harland R 1988. Phonophoresis of lignocaine and prilocaine from Emla cream. International Journal of Pharmaceutics 44: 65-69.
- 48. Tachibana K, Tachibana S 1993. Use of ultrasound to enhance the local anaesthetic effect of topically applied aqueous lidocaine. Anaesthesiology 78: 1091-1096.
- 49. Williams AR 1990. Phonophoresis: an *in vivo* evaluation using three topical anaesthetic preparations. Ultrasonics 28: 137-141.
- 50. Williams AR 1983. Ultrasound: Biological effects and potential Hazards. Academic Press, London.
- Gay CL, Guy RH, Golden GM, Mak VH, Francoeur ML 1994. Characterization of low-temperature (i.e. <65 degrees C) lipid transitions in human stratum corneum. The Journal of Investigative Dermatology 103: 233-239.
- Mitragotri S, Blankenschtein D, Langer R 1995. A mechanistic study of ultrasonically-enhanced transdermal drug delivery. Journal of Pharmaceutical Science 84 (6): 694-706.
- Jain AK, Panchagnula R 2003. Effect of temperature on imipramine hydrochloride permeation: role of lipid bilayer arrangement and chemical composition of rat skin. International Journal of Pharmaceutics 250: 287-293.
- 54. Lawson EE, Anigbogu ANC, Williams AC, Barry BW, Edwards HGM 1998. Thermally induced molecular disorder in human stratum corneum lipids

compared with a model phospholipid system; FT-Raman spectroscopy. Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy 54: 543-558.

- 55. Velkova V, Lafleur M 2002. Influence of the lipid composition on the organization of skin lipid model mixtures: an infrared spectroscopy investigation. Chemistry and Physics of Lipids 117: 63-74.
- 56. Cagnie B, Vinck E, Rimbaut S, Vanstraeten G 2003. Phonophoresis versus topical application of ketoprofen: comparison between tissue and plasma levels. Physical Therapy 83: 707-712.
- Ueda H, Sugibayashi K, Morimoto Y 1995. Skin penetration-enhancing effect of drugs by phonophoresis. Journal of Controlled Release 37: 291-297.
- 58. Miyazaki S, Mizuoka H, Oda M, Takada M 1991. External control of drug release and penetration: enhancement of the transdermal absorption of indomethacin by ultrasound irradiation. Journal of Pharmaceutical Pharmacology 43: 115-116.
- 59. Williams AR, Rosenfield EH, Williams KA 1990. Gel-sectioning technique to evaluate phonophoresis *in vitro*. Ultrasonics 28: 132-136.
- Bronaugh R, Stewart R, Congdon E 1982. Methods for *in vitro* percutaneous absorption studies 2. Animal models for human skin. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 62: 481–488.
- Al-Suwayeh S, Hikal AH 1991. Influence of ultrasound on *in vitro* diffusion of indomethacin through hairless mouse skin. Pharmaceutical Research 8 S-140.
- Bommannan D, Okuyama H, Stauffer P, Guy RH 1992. Sonophoresis (1): the use of high-frequency ultrasound to enhance transdermal drug delivery. Pharmaceutical Research 9 (4): 559-64.
- Merino G, Kalia YN, Delgado-Charro M, Potts RO, Guy RH 2003.
 Frequency and thermal effects on the enhancement of transdermal transport by sonophoresis. Journal of Controlled Release 88 (1): 85-94.
- Tachibana K, Tachibana S 1999. Application of ultrasound energy as a new drug delivery system. Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 38 (1): 3014-3019.
- 65. Terahara T, Mitragotri S, Kost J, Langer R 2002. Dependence of lowfrequency sonophoresis on ultrasound parameters, distance of the horn and intensity. International Journal of Pharmaceutics 235 (1-2): 35-42.

- Singer AJ, Homan CS, Church AL, McClain SA 1998. Low-frequency sonophoresis: pathologic and thermal effect in dogs. Academic Emergency Medicine 5: 35-40.
- Saxena J, Sharma N, Makoid MC, Banakar UV 1993. Ultrasonically mediated drug delivery. Journal of Biomaterials Applications 7 (3): 277-296.
- 68. Simonin JP 1995. On the mechanisms for *in vitro* and *in vivo* phonophoresis. Journal Controlled Release 33: 125-141.
- Zisken MC, Michlovitch SL 1986. Therapeutic ultrasound In: Michlovitch, S.L. (ed.), Contemporary Perspectives in Rehabilitation, Thermal Agents in Rehabilitation, F. A. Davis, Philadelphia, Vol. 1, pp 141-176.
- 70. Novak EJ 1964. Experimental transmission of lidocaine through intact skin by ultrasound. Archives of Physical Medicine 45: 231-232.
- Bommannan D, Menon GK, Okuyama H, Elias PM, Guy RH 1992.
 Sonophoresis (2) Examination of the mechanisms of ultrasound- enhanced transdermal drug delivery. Pharmaceutical Research 9: 1043-1047.
- 72. Meidan VM, Walmsley AD, Irwin WJ 1995. Phonophoresis is it a reality? International Journal of Pharmaceutics 118: 129-149.
- 73. Mitragotri S, Kost J 2001. Transdermal delivery of heparin and lowmolecular weight heparin using low frequency ultrasound. Pharmaceutical Research 18: 1151-1156.
- 74. Mitragotri S, Farrell J, Tang H, Terhara T, Kost J, Langer R 2000. Determination of threshold energy dose for ultrasound-induced transdermal drug transport. Journal of Controlled Release 63: 41-52.
- 75. Boucaud A, Machet L, Arbeille B, Machet MC, Sournac M, Mavon A, Patat F, Vaillant L 2001. *In vitro* study of low-frequency ultrasound-enhanced transdermal transport of fentanyl and caffeine across human and hairless skin. International Journal of Pharmaceutics 228: 69-77.
- Boucaud A, Garrigue MA, Machet L, Vaillant L, Patat F 2002. Effect of sonification parameters on transdermal delivery of insulin to hairless rats. Journal of Controlled Release 81 (1-2): 113-119.
- Cameron MH, Monroe LG 1992. Relative transmission of ultrasound by media customarily used for phonophoresis. Physical Therapy 72 (2): 142-148.
- 78. Benson HAE, McElnay JC 1988. Transmission of ultrasound energy through topical pharmaceutical products. Physiotherapy 74: 587-589.

- 79. Chiarini A, Tartarini A, Fini A 1984. pH-solubility relationship and partition coefficients for some anti-inflammatory arylaliphatic acids. Archives of Pharmacology (Weinheim) 317: 268-273.
- Fini A, Fazio G, Gonzalez-Rodriguez M, Cavallari C, Passerini N, Rodriguez L 1999. Formation of ion-pairs in aqueous solutions of diclofenac salts. International Journal of Pharmaceutics 187: 163-173.
- Voltaren Emulgel® package insert by Novartis Consumer Health SA, a sector of Novartis SA (pty) Ltd, 72 Steel Road, Spartan, Kempton Park, 1619. Date of publication for package insert: 02/06/1988.
- Sarpotdar PP, Zatz JL 1986. Evaluation of penetration enhancement of lidocaine by non-ionic surfactants through hairless mouse skin *in vitro*. Journal of Pharmaceutical Science 75: 176-181.
- Barry BW, Bennet SL 1987. Effect of penetration enhancers on the permeation of mannitol, hydrocortisone and progesterone through human skin. Journal of Pharmacology 39: 535-546.
- Bendas B, Schmalfuss U, Neubert R 1995. Influence of propylene glycol as cosolvent on mechanisms of drug transport from hydrogels. International Journal of Pharmaceutics 116: 19-30.
- 85. Radermacher J, Jentsch D, Scholl MA, Lustinetz T, Frölich JC 1991. Diclofenac concentrations in synovial fluid and plasma after cutaneous application in inflammatory and degenerative joint disease. British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology 31: 537-541.
- Córdoba-Diaz M, Nova M, Elorza B, Córdoba-Diaz D, Chantres JR, Córdoba-Borrego M 2000. Validation protocol of an automated in-line flow-through diffusion equipment for *in vitro* permeation studies. Journal of Controlled Release 69 (3): 357-367.
- Hug MJ 12/3/2002. Transepithelial measurements using the Ussing chamber. Provided through: The European Working Group on CFTR Expression. Pp 1-10.
- Van der Bijl P, Thompson IOC, Squier CA 1997. Comparative permeability of human vaginal and buccal mucosa to water. European Journal of Oral Science 105: 571-575.
- Van der Bijl P, Van Eyk AD, Thompson IOC 1998. Permeation of 17βestradiol through human vaginal and buccal mucosa. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology, and Endodontology 85: 393– 398.

- Van der Bijl P, Van Eyk AD, Thompson IOC 1998. Diffusion rates of vasopressin through human vaginal and buccal mucosa. European Journal of Oral Science 106: 958-962.
- 91. Van der Bijl P, Van Eyk AD, Thompson IOC 1998. Penetration of human vaginal and buccal mucosa by 4.4- and 12-kDa fluorescein-isothiocyanatelabled dextrans. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology and Endodontology 85: 686-691.
- 92. Van der Bijl P, Penkler L, Van Eyk AD 2000. Permeation of sumatriptan through human vaginal and buccal mucosa. Headache 40: 137-141.
- 93. Van der Bijl P, Van Eyk AD, Cilliers J, Stander IA 2000. Diffusion of water across human skin in the presence of two barrier creams. Skin Pharmacology and Applied Skin Physiology 13: 104-110.
- 94. Van der Bijl P, Van Eyk AD, Van Wyk CW, Stander IA 2001. Diffusion of reduced arecoline and arecaidine through human vaginal and buccal mucosa. Journal of Oral Pathology Medicine 30: 200-205.
- Van der Bijl P, Van Eyk AD, Meyer D 2001. Effects of three penetration enhancers on transcorneal permeation of cyclosporine. Cornea 20: 505-508.
- 96. Van der Bijl P, Van Eyk AD, Meyer D 2002. Comparative permeability of human and rabbit corneas to cyclosporine and tritiated water. Journal of Ocular Pharmacology Therapeutics 18: 419-427.
- 97. Van der Bijl P, Liss J, Van Eyk AD, Böhm L 2002. The effect of radiation on the permeability of human saphenous vein to 17β-estradiol. South African Dental Journal 57: 92-94.
- 98. Motulsky H 1995. Intuitive Biostatistics. In: Graphpad Software, Oxford University Press, New York.
- Higuchi T 1961. Release rate of medicaments from ointment bases containing drugs in suspension. Journal of Pharmaceutical Science 50: 874-875.
- 100. Frantz TJ 1975. Percutaneous absorption. On the relevance of *in vitro* data. Journal of Investigative Dermatology 64: 190-195.
- Swarbrick J, Lee G, Brom J 1982. Drug permeation through human skin. Effect of storage conditions of skin. Journal of Investigative Dermatology 78: 63-66.
- 102. Brucks R, Nanvaty M, Jung D, Siegel F 1989. The effect of ultrasound on the *in vitro* penetration of ibuprofen through human epidermis. Pharmaceutical Research 6: 697-701.

- Kost J, Levy D, Langer R 1986. Ultrasound effect on transdermal drug delivery. Proc 13th International Symposium Controlled Release of Bioactive Materials: 177-178.
- 104. Fritsch WC, Stoughton RB 1963. The effect of temperature and humidity on the penetration of acetylsalicylic acid-¹⁴C in excised human skin. Journal of Investigative Dermatology 41: 307-312.
- 105. Van der Bijl P, Venter A, Van Eyk AD, Thompson IOC 1998. Effect of temperature on permeability of mucosa to water. South African Dental Journal 53: 504-507.
- 106. Van der Bijl P, De Blois AMR, Van Eyk AD, Thompson IOC 2000. Permeability of vaginal mucosa at normal and elevated temperatures. South African Dental Journal 55: 206-210.
- 107. Van der Bijl P, Van Eyk AD, Van der Bijl P, Kriel J 2003. Enhancing effect of temperature on the transmucosal penetration kinetics of 17β-estradiol. South African Dental Journal 58: 95-99.
- Barry BW (ED) 1983. Effect of Temperature. Dermatological Formulations: Percutaneous Absorption. Marcel Dekker, New York, pp 158-160.
- Blank IH, Scheuplein RJ, Macfarlane DJ 1967. Mechanism of percutaneous absorption III. The effect of temperature on the transport of non-electrolytes across the skin. Journal of Investigative Dermatology 49 (6): 582-589.
- 110. Michaels AS, Chandrasekaran SK, Shaw JE 1975. Drug permeation through human skin: Theory and *in vitro* experimental measurement. American Institute of Chemical Engineering Journal 21: 985-996.
- 111. Machet L, Pinton J, Patat F, Arbeille B, Pourcelot L, Valliant L 1996. In vitro phonophoresis of digoxin across hairless mice and human skin: thermal effect of ultrasound. International Journal of Pharmaceutics 133: 39-45.